IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

STATE OF FLORIDA

ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida, and DANIEL CASTLE, as County Administrator of St. Johns County, Florida,

Defendants/Petitioners,

v.

NORTHEAST FLORIDA BUILDERS ASSOCIATION, INC., a Florida corporation, and LAWSON HOMES, INC., a Florida corporation,

Plaintiffs/Respondents.



JUN 12 1990

GLESK, SUPREME COLUMN

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 75,786

DISTRICT COURT CASE NO: 89-861.

LOWER COURT CASE NO: 88-728-CA

APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS AND THE SEVENTH! JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY

-(19) (84) (19) (19) (84) (19) (19) - (19) (19) (19) (19) (19) (19) (19)

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This lawsuit was initiated on June 6, 1988, when Plaintiffs FLORIDA HOME BUILDERS ASSOCIATION, a trade association of residential developers (hereby referred to collectively, along with Lawson, as the "Homebuilders"), and LAWSON HOMES, INC., a private corporation ("Lawson"), filed a six count Complaint in the Circuit Court for St. Johns County. (R. I, p. 1).¹ The Complaint sought a decree that the St. Johns County Educational Facilities Impact Fee Ordinance ("Ordinance") is unconstitutional on a variety of grounds. Defendants, ST. JOHNS COUNTY ("County") and its County Administrator, DANIEL CASTLE, answered on June 27, 1988, denying most of the substantive allegations of the Complaint and alleging several affirmative defenses. (R. I, p. 77)

On January 20, 1989, the County filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R. I, p. 105) and on February 21, 1989, the Homebuilders filed a Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. II, p. 218) On February 22, 1989, the Homebuilders abandoned their due process, equal protection, and right to privacy claims as presented in Count VI of their Complaint. The motion and cross-motion for Summary Judgment were heard by the Honorable Richard G. Weinberg on April 6, 1989. (R. II, p. 308)

The summary judgment record was comprised of Ordinance No. 87-60, the St. Johns County Educational Facilities Impact Fee Ordinance, a Methodology Report prepared by Professors James C. Nicholas and Julian C. Juergensmeyer, the County's

¹ The record filed by the Clerk for the Seventh Judicial Circuit has been cited as "R." followed by the volume and page number, <u>i.e.</u>, R. I, pp. 23-26.

impact fee consultants,² the St. Johns County General Impact Fees Administrative Guidelines and Procedures Manual ("Procedures Manual"), and an affidavit of Professor Michael Stegman, a nationally recognized planner and expert on impact fees and city and regional planning. The Plaintiffs offered no evidence except for the deposition of one of the County's consultants, Dr. Nicholas. On April 17, 1989, the trial court rendered a decision granting summary judgment in favor of the Homebuilders.³ A copy of the court's opinion is attached hereto as Appendix 1.

St. Johns County and Castle filed a timely notice of appeal and the following parties were granted leave to intervene on their behalf as <u>amicus curiae</u>: the State of Florida Department of Education, the Florida School Boards Association, Inc., Dade County, the School Board of Broward County, the School Board of Dade County, the School Board of Hernando County, the School Board of Martin County, the School Board of Palm Beach County, the School Board of Seminole County, the School Board of St. Johns County, and the School Board of Volusia County.

Professors Nicholas and Juergensmeyer are the Co-Directors of the Center For Growth Management Studies at the University of Florida, and are recognized national experts in the field of impact fees and other land economics. Professor Nicholas is the author of several books, monographs and articles on the topic of impact fees and infrastructure finance. See, e.g., Nicholas, Calculating Proportionate Share Impact Fees Under the Rational Nexus Test, (Chicago: American Planning Assoc. 1988); Nicholas & Nelson, Determining the Appropriate Impact Fees Under the Rational Nexus Test, 54 J. Am. Plan. A. 1 (1988); and Nicholas, Impact Exactions: Economic Theory, Practice and Incidence, 50 Law & Contemp. Probs. 85 (1987). Professor Juergensmeyer is the co-author (with Blake) of an article entitled Impact Fees: An Answer to Local Governments' Capital Funding Dilemma, 9 Fla. St.U.L.Rev. 415 (1981), cited with approval in Home Builders and Contractors Ass'n. of Palm Beach County, Inc. v. Bd. of County Comm'rs of Palm Beach County, 446 So.2d 140, 145 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) ("The home rule powers granted local governments in Florida, the legislative mandate that local governments must plan comprehensively for future growth, and the additional broad powers given them to make those plans work effectively, indicate that properly limited impact fees for educational or recreational purposes should be construed as regulations.")

³ Although the grounds of invalidity are not clearly enumerated, it appears from the opinion that the trial court accepted the arguments raised by the Homebuilders below. For the purposes of this appeal, the County assumes that the trial court determined that state legislation preempts the County from entering into the field of educational facility financing, that the methodology used by the County to calculate the fee violates the proportionate share requirement of Contractors and Builder Ass'n. of Pinellas County v. City of Dunedin, 329 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1976), and is therefore a tax, that the ordinance violates the free and uniform public schools provisions of the Florida Constitution, and that the ordinance unlawfully delegated legislative authority to the St. Johns County School Board.

After oral argument, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision invalidating the constitutionality of the St. Johns County school impact fee ordinance but certified the following question to be of great public importance:

Can the county commissions by enactment of a county ordinance, as was done by St. John's County in this case, impose an impact fee on all new construction to be used for new school facilities?

Slip op., App. 2 at p. 1. The court of appeal's decision is attached hereto as Appendix 2.

On April 30, 1990, the County timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to the opinion of the District Court and Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(b) & (c). The County also invokes the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on the grounds that the appellate court's decision expressly construed a provision of the State Constitution and because the decision expressly and directly conflicts with the decisions of this Court on the issue of uniformity.⁴

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

St. Johns County is a rapidly growing county (R. IV, p. 587) with an increasing public school child population. (R. III, p. 423) The need for additional capacity in the County's educational facilities is well-documented. (R. IV, pp. 606-610; see also Slip op., App. 2 at p. 3 (Sharp, J. dissenting).) In 1986, the County initiated a comprehensive impact fee program to finance additional infrastructure required to serve new growth and development. (R. II, p. 167; R. II, pp. 320-21) Impact fees are charges imposed by a local government on new development as a condition of development

⁴ See Scavella v. School Bd. of Dade County, 363 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1978); School Bd. of Escambia County v. State of Florida, 353 So.2d 834 (Fla. 1977). The County did not file a jurisdictional brief in this cause because a fair reading of the procedural rules indicates that a brief is not appropriate under such circumstances and because the bases for these additional jurisdictional grounds are practically self-evident. See, e.g., Schermerhorn v. Retail Clerks Int'l Ass'n, 141 So.2d 269, 272 (Fla. 1962) (constitutional question of first impression); Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 106 So.2d 407, 410 (Fla. 1958) ("construction" of constitution contemplates interpretation of meaning of constitutional language which is doubtful by its own content).

approval for a proportionate share of the cost of public facilities capacity needed to serve new development. (R. III, pp. 382-83) Impact fees are used in Florida to finance the provision of expanded capital facilities, including: potable water, sewers, solid waste, drainage, roads and transportation, fire and emergency medical services, public schools, public libraries, law enforcement and cemeteries.⁵

Several workshops were held in St. Johns County in 1986 on the topic of impact fees and were attended by members of the St. Johns County Board of County Commissioners and the St. Johns County School Board ("School Board"). (R. II, p. 326) At the request of the School Board, the County included educational facilities impact fees within the scope of the County's impact fee program. (R. II, p. 167) In addition to the educational facilities impact fees they prepared for the County, Professors Nicholas and Juergensmeyer also developed impact fees for roads, law enforcement and police protection, parks, fire protection, emergency medical services, and public buildings. (R. IV, p. 589) During 1986 and 1987, members of the County staff, the School Board staff and the County's consultants met several times in regard to the educational facilities impact fees. (R. II, p. 330)

In August of 1987, a report entitled "St. Johns County, Florida, Impact Fee Methodology" ("Methodology Report")(attached hereto as Appendix 3) was submitted by Professor Nicholas to the Board of County Commissioners. (R. I, p. 106) The Report set forth what action St. Johns County must take to maintain an acceptable level of service for public facilities in the County. In addition, the Report indicates that the County would have to provide additional public facilities capacity (such as new roads, parks, schools, public buildings and fire stations) in order to accommodate new growth and development without a decline in level of service and quality of life. (R. IV, p. 588)

The methodology employed by Professor Nicholas calculates the cost of educational facilities needed to provide sufficient school capacity to serve new growth

⁵ <u>See</u> J. Nicholas, <u>The Calculation of Proportionate-Share Impact Fees</u>, PAS Report No. 408, 1989, p.3. <u>See also Florida Advisory Council on Intergovernmental Relations, <u>Impact Fee Use in Florida: An Update</u>, July, 1989.</u>

and development. (R. III, pp. 454-56) The methodology then calculates a pro rata share of that cost by taking the total cost of facilities per educational station (per unit of student capacity) and then allocating that cost to each unit of development. (R. III, pp. 458-60) The allocation is not intended to calculate the amount each dwelling unit will use the St. Johns County school system. Rather, as required by Contractors and Builders Ass'n. of Pinellas County v. City of Dunedin, 329 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1976), the methodology calculates the proportionate share of the cost of the facilities capacity needed to serve new growth and development. (R. IV, p. 589) On October 20, 1987, the Board of County Commissioners of St. Johns County, after considering the Methodology Report, determined that the Report set forth a reasonable methodology and analysis to determine the impact of new development on the need for and costs of additional school sites and educational facilities in St. Johns County (R. II, p. 226) and accordingly enacted the St. Johns County Educational Facilities Impact Fee Ordinance (attached hereto as Appendix 4). (R. II, p. 240)

Ordinance 87-60 contains a fee schedule (R. II, p. 232) which is based on a formula that calculates each unit of development's pro rata share of the cost of new educational facilities capacity needed to serve new growth and development. (R. III, p. 454-56) The Ordinance also limits the expenditure of impact fee funds to the acquisition, construction, and expansion of educational facilities capacity (R. II, p. 234), requires that fees be expended or encumbered within six years from the date the fees were paid, or provides for the refund of the fees. (R. II, p. 235) Under the provisions of the Ordinance, the funds that are collected must be deposited in an educational facilities impact fee trust fund for use only for the purposes for which they are collected. (R. II, p. 234).

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The core issue in this cause is whether the St. Johns County Educational Facilities Impact Fee violates the constitutional entitlement to free and uniform public

schools in Florida. The County submits that its educational facilities impact fee is a valid land use regulation that does not violate the constitutional imperative for free and uniform schools.

First, the school impact fee ordinance is a regulation, like any other land use regulation, that controls the character, location and magnitude of residential development in the County by imposing a development exaction. A developer who wants to build a new house in St. Johns County will be charged impact fees for parks, emergency medical services, public buildings, law enforcement and police protection, roads and schools. The educational facilities impact fee is no different from these other impact fees since it is a charge on developers for the ability to build in the County and it creates new capacity for the County's public capital facilities. An educational facilities impact fee that meets the rational nexus test affects the "freeness" and "uniformity" of the public school system to the same degree as its sister impact fee ordinances -- to no degree at all.

The Homebuilders' notion that the educational facilities impact fee constitutes a tuition charge because a student's parents must pay the educational facilities impact fee (ostensibly by paying the developer an increase in housing costs) is designed to create the illusion that the child's constitutional rights are being violated. However, it is the developers who are responsible for paying the fee and the Homebuilders have no constitutional right to burden the County's public school system for free. Whether or not the fee is paid has no relevance to the ability of a child who resides in the St. Johns County to attend public school in the County.

The County submits that the proper question before this Court should be whether the amount of the educational facilities impact fee is reasonable and whether the St. Johns County Board of County Commissioners and School Board could have reasonably relied on the recommendations and conclusions of its experts who devised the methodology. The free and uniform provision of the Florida Constitution does not even apply in this query. The County respectfully submits that while the issues presented here do focus on the power of county government to plan for and financially accommodate

new growth and development, this is not a case that in any way infringes on the right of Florida residents to attend a uniform system of free public schools.

Second, Ordinance 87-60 is nothing more than an innovative capital facilities financing device that was specifically endorsed by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, Section 163.3161 et seq., Fla. Stat. (1989) as a means for local governments to finance educational facilities. The County has merely reacted to this legislative authority by charging impact fees in lieu of levying more restrictive regulations that would prohibit development in the absence of adequate facilities (e.g., a growth moratorium).

Third, the constitutionality of impact fees is well-established in Florida. See Contractors and Builders Ass'n. of Pinellas County v. City of Dunedin, 329 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1976). Not only does Ordinance 87-60 meet the "dual rational nexus" test set forth in Dunedin, but the concept of educational facilities impact fees is in reality no different than sewer impact fees (upheld in Dunedin), road impact fees (sustained in Hollywood Inc. v. Broward County, 431 So.2d 606 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)) and park impact fees (found valid in Home Builders and Contractors Ass'n. of Palm Beach County, Inc. v. Bd. of County Comm'rs of Palm Beach County, 446 So.2d 140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)), or for that matter, from any other type of responsible government regulatory financing program.

The methodology employed by St. Johns County constitutes a reasonable calculation of the educational facilities capacity required to serve a residential unit of development. There can be no question that the fees charged are no more than a "pro rata" share of the cost of facilities needed to serve new growth and development. Nor can there be any question that the fees collected are earmarked to be spent only on educational facilities. The trial court committed manifest error when it substituted its judgment for that of the Board of County Commissioners as to the "best" way to calculate an educational facilities impact fee. The scope of judicial review is narrow when a legislative enactment is at issue, and the trial court should have gone no further than considering whether the methodology reasonably assessed a "pro rata" share of the cost of educational facilities needed to serve new growth and development. Khoury v. Carvel

Homes South, Inc., 403 So.2d 1043, 1045 (Fla. 1981).

Finally, Ordinance 87-60 does not delegate legislative power of the County to the School Board since the School Board does not have the discretion to say what the law is. The legislative mandate states that each unit of development shall pay a pro rata share of the cost of needed facilities, and this mandate cannot be modified by the School Board. The School Board is only tasked with administratively ascertaining what a pro rata share is under particular circumstances -- which does not constitute a delegation of authority to say what the law shall be.

For these and the reasons set forth more fully herein, St. Johns County respectfully submits that the appellate court's decision should be reversed and summary judgment should be entered in favor of the County.

IV. ARGUMENT

Introduction

The District Court of Appeal, while sympathetic to the purpose of the St. Johns County Educational Facilities Impact Fee Ordinance, held that the ordinance "violates the constitutional mandate for a 'uniform system of free public schools' and is invalid and unenforceable." (Slip op., App. 2 at p. 2). St. Johns County respectfully disagrees and prays that this honorable Court reverse the decision of the District Court of Appeal and render a decision sustaining the validity of educational facilities impact fees in general, and the St. Johns County Educational Facilities Impact Fee Ordinance in particular.

St. Johns County submits that the real subject matter of this appeal is growth management, and that the question of the validity of impact fees -- a key growth management tool -- goes to the very core of growth management in Florida. <u>See</u>

⁶ The District Court of Appeal did not reach a number of questions discussed by the trial court in its somewhat disjunctive opinion. Those other issues are nonetheless addressed here in Sections IV C through E of this Brief.

Contractors and Builders Ass'n. of Pinellas County v. City of Dunedin, 329 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1976); Hollywood Inc. v. Broward County, 431 So.2d 606 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Home Builders and Contractors Ass'n. of Palm Beach County, Inc. v. Bd. of County Comm'rs of Palm Beach County, 446 So.2d 140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); and Juergensmeyer and Blake, Impact Fees: An Answer to Local Governments' Capital Funding Dilemma, 9 Fla. St.U.L.Rev. 415 (1981).

In 1985, the Legislature of the State of Florida adopted The Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act of 1985 (the "Growth Management Act"), Section 163.3161 et seq., Fla. Stat. (1989). The Act imposes a statewide standard of "concurrency," that is, a requirement that public facilities be available (in terms of the capacity of existing or funded improvements) to serve new growth and development at the time of development permitting:

[A] local government shall not issue a development order or permit which results in a reduction of the level of services for the affected public facilities below the level of services provided in the comprehensive plan of the local government.

Section 163.3202(2)(g), Fla. Stat. (1989). Included within the ambit of "public facilities" are educational facilities, the subject matter of the St. Johns County Educational Facilities Impact Fee Ordinance.

"Public facilities" means major capital improvements, including, but not limited to, transportation, sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, potable water, <u>educational</u>, parks and recreational, and health systems and facilities.

Section 163.3164(23), Fla. Stat. (1989)(emphasis added). Also included in the Growth Management Act is a mandate for land development regulations that implement concurrency, and that mandate includes express encouragement for the use of impact fees:

This section [land development regulations] shall be construed to encourage the use of innovative land development regulations which include provisions such as ... impact fees

Section 163.3202(3), Fla. Stat. (1989) (emphasis added).

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