IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida, and DANIEL CASTLE, as County Administrator of St. Johns County, Florida,

Petitioners

vs.

NORTHEAST FLORIDA BUILDERS ASSOCIATION, INC., a Florida corporation, and LAWSON HOMES, INC., a Florida corporation,

Respondents.

CASE NUMBER 75,986

33

the state page

CERTIORARI REVIEW OF DECISION OF DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The St. Johns County School Impact Fee Ordinance violates Florida's constitutional guarantee of a uniform system of free public schools. The goal of the Ordinance, as evidenced by the School Board Resolution requesting enactment and by the terms of the Ordinance itself, is to make the residents of new homes pay for the classrooms needed to serve their children. The Constitution requires that the education system be financed indirectly through taxation, not directly by the families anticipated to send their children to public schools.

Moreover, the Legislature has created a comprehensive system of school funding designed to assure uniformity throughout the state. The Ordinance is outside of this uniform system. The legislative scheme preempts the field of school funding. Tinkering with school funding by counties will skew the allocation of resources per child and is outside the authority of county government. The Growth Management Act does not alter this legislative program.

Ordinance 87-60 fails to meet the dual rational nexus test for distinguishing appropriately assessed impact fees from unconstitutional taxes. The majority of new homes have no impact on the school system, but the Ordinance requires the owners to show that there is no impact. This skewed system amounts to an unconstitutional tax. Further, the funds generated by the fee are not targeted to substantially benefit the feepayer. Because the school district is county-wide, the entire district reaps the benefit derived from payment by a few. This problem is exacerbated by the fact that the Ordinance is not effective county-wide.

The Ordinance unlawfully delegates power to the School Board, and authorizes the unlawful transfer of county funds to the School Board.

ARGUMENT

I. EDUCATIONAL IMPACT FEES, SUCH AS ORDINANCE 87-60, VIOLATE THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEE OF FREE PUBLIC SCHOOLS.

At the heart of this case is the right of Floridians to free public schools. The parties agree that this right is guaranteed by Article IX, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution. <u>Scavella v. School</u> <u>Board of Dade County</u>, 363 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 1978). The parties agree that the constitutional guaranty of free public schools is a fundamental right. The parties agree that no tuition can be charged as a condition for attending public schools. The parties agree that everyone may be required to pay school ad valorem taxes, sales taxes and other general taxes used to finance public schools. Between these islands of agreement, however, there is a vast gulf.

The County requests the Court to rule that our Constitution protects only the right of a child not to be charged at the schoolhouse door. It is respectfully submitted that our Constitution is not so weak as to allow by artifice that which cannot be done directly. The Court should hold that our Constitution mandates any school financing scheme to be as blind to school attendance as it must be to race. The Court should hold that St. Johns County cannot fund anticipated shortfalls in school finances by placing the burden on the families who, in the words of the Ordinance, "may reasonably be expected to place students in the public schools of St. Johns County."⁴

The County and Amici plead for the Court to limit the fundamental right to free schools. They say education has great financial needs. They urge the Court to allow "flexibility" and "creativity," to say

4 St. Johns County Ordinance 87-60, §5(A).

"growth management" overrides constitutional values. The Department of Education pleads that even with careful planning, there can be unmet needs if voters defeat bond issues, or if the Legislature is stingy in its appropriations, or if ad valorem tax revenues are reduced. Undoubtedly, public schools throughout Florida could use more funds. That need, however, provides no excuse for abrogating constitutional rights.

The answer to school funding needs lies not in the truncation of constitutional rights, but in adherence to the constitutional mandate that there be a uniform system of free public schools. The answer is to be found with the Legislature, mandated by our Constitution⁵ to provide for that uniform system; with the voters who must approve most school bond issues;⁶ and with the willingness of school boards to set millage rates at the appropriate levels,⁷ as our Constitution provides.⁸ The Constitution would be eviscerated if the Court permitted the County's solution of placing the cost of building new schools on the families who need the schools in order for their children to have adequate school facilities.⁹

- 5 Article IX, § 4, Florida Constitution. "Adequate provision shall be made by law for a uniform system of free public schools...."
- 6 Article VIII, §12, Florida Constitution.
- 7 Section 230.23(10)(a), Florida Statutes.
- 8 Article IX, §1, Florida Constitution. "The school board shall operate, control and supervise all free public schools within the school district and determine the rate of school district taxes within the limits prescribed herein."
- 9 As the California Supreme Court replied to similar pleas for creative flexibility:

[D]ue to the legal limitations on taxation and spending..., school districts do indeed operate under severe financial constraints. However, footnote continued on next page

A. The St. Johns County's School Impact Fee Is A User Fee.

The concept behind impact fees is to require new users of facilities or services to pay for the incremental expansion required by the burden they represent to the system. <u>Contractors and Builders</u> <u>Assoc. v. City of Dunedin</u>, 329 So. 2d 314, 320-21 (Fla. 1976); <u>Hollywood, Inc. v. Broward County</u>, 431 So. 2d 606, 611-12 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). The Court explained it well in <u>Dunedin</u>:

The cost of new facilities should be borne by new users to the extent new use requires new facilities, but only to that extent. (329 So.2d at 321.)

The St. Johns County School Impact Fee sets out to accomplish the goal of making new users pay for the additional schools they need. The St. Johns County School Board, faced with inevitable growth in the school population, and recognizing that raising needed revenue through a millage increase was likely to displease many voters, abdicated a portion of its responsibility for funding the St. Johns County public schools at an adequate level. The goal of the School Board is express and unequivocal. In its Resolution, it requested an impact fee "because of the fiscal burden that the children from new developments are placing upon the public school system." The study commissioned by the County at the School Board's request does not equivocate about the goal of impact fees. The study report itself describes impact fees as

footnote continued from previous page

financial hardship is no defense to a violation of the free school guarantee.... A solution to those financial difficulties must be found elsewhere for example, through the political process.

<u>Hartzell v. Connell</u>, 679 P.2d 35, 44 (Cal. 1984)(en banc)(holding extra-curricular activities fees unconstitutional).

a means to "shift a part of the cost of providing additional public facilities" from taxpayers to those causing the need.

A child residing in a new home in St. Johns County is not stopped at the classroom door and required to pay the fee in order to get in. The Ordinance is more insidious. The child's family is prohibited from building a new home in St. Johns County unless the family also pays to build the child's pro rata share of the school. The family can avoid this burden only by sending its children to private schools and warranting that the impact fee would be paid later if there was a change which placed children in the public schools. Exemption from payment of the exaction could then be obtained under § 7(B) of the Ordinance. (R. 495-97.) For the bulk of families who purchase new homes with borrowed funds, the fee means a larger mortgage payment every month.¹⁰ The ultimate goal is to allow taxpayers to avoid paying the taxes needed to build new schools, and to shift the burden of building new schools onto the school children and their families.

B. The Scope Of The Right To Free Schools.

The substantive content of the Florida constitutional guarantee of free schools has been twice addressed by the Court. These decisions establish the broad framework of this right. In <u>Scavella v. School</u> <u>Board of Dade County</u>, 363 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 1978), the Court addressed a statute which capped payments to private schools for the education of handicapped students when appropriate facilities were not available

¹⁰ Every empirical study concludes that impact fees are ultimately paid by the home buyers. (R. 440-43.) <u>See, e.g.</u>, Note, <u>The</u> <u>Legality of California Development Fees</u>, 13 Pepperdine L. Rev. 759, 785 (1986). The Ordinance implicitly acknowledges this result because it mandates that unused revenue be refunded to the "then current landowner," rather than to the persons from whom the charges were originally exacted. St. Johns County Ordinance 87-60, §11(B).

in public schools. The Court recognized that the statute had to be interpreted so as not to interfere with the right to free schools. The Court then construed the statute to require that any cap established could not so reduce the qualitative content of the educational experience as to deprive any student of the right to a free education. So construed, the statute was held constitutional. Noting that no Florida court had previously rendered a clear holding that there is a constitutional right to free public schools, the Court declared that every child in Florida has a constitutional right to attend public schools free of charge. The court explained:

> The Florida Constitution mandates the Legislature to provide for 'a uniform system of free public schools.' Article IX, Section 1, Florida Constitution. In compliance with this provision, the legislature had enacted a system of public schools which provide '13 consecutive years of instruction....' Section 228.051, Florida Statutes (1977). These schools are funded by governmental sources and non-resident tuition fees, not by the people utilizing them, except indirectly as taxpayers. The clear implication is that all Florida residents have the right to attend this public school system for free. (Scavella, 363 So. 2d at 1098 (emphasis added)).

Many years prior to <u>Scavella</u>, the Court strongly suggested that any attempt to impose a charge for public schools would be invalid. In <u>State ex rel. Clark v. Henderson</u>, 188 So. 351 (Fla. 1939), a school district argued that its ad valorem tax was an assessment for special benefits provided to lands within the district by construction of school buildings, and that homestead tax exemptions were therefore inapplicable. The Court found this concept anathema to constitutional principles. Explaining that the right to free schools was intended to advance and maintain proper standards of enlightened citizenship, the Court held that special assessments are "imposed upon the theory that

that portion of the community which is [assessed] receives some special or peculiar benefit," but that the school district tax could not be treated as a special assessment. <u>Id</u>. at 354. The Florida Constitution does not contemplate the imposition of any fee, charge or assessment for special benefits to homeowners arising from the existence of public schools. This is because Florida public schools are to be financed by the general citizenry through taxation.

The County argues that the free school guarantee "focuses on a single critical point in time: when a student arrives at the school house door." Petitioners' Initial Brief at 13. This argument should be rejected. <u>Henderson</u> teaches that the Constitution's guarantee goes further and does not allow consideration of the "special benefit" any taxpayer may receive. The decision in <u>Scavella</u> was not limited to the question of tuition paid at the schoolhouse door, but also focused on the qualitative content of the educational experience once in the door. A limited interpretation of the sort urged by the County would open the way to non-tuition charges designed to circumvent the Constitution.

The Constitution establishes a fundamental policy of making the populace as a whole bear the expense of an educational system which directly and primarily benefits the populace as a whole. <u>Henderson</u>, <u>supra</u>. Ordinance 87-60 attempts a circumvention of this mandate. Floridians may not be required to fund public schools "except indirectly as taxpayers." <u>Scavella</u>, at 1098. The courts of other states also have interpreted their "free school" clauses to mean that the cost of education must be borne by society at large through taxation. <u>See, e.q., Midtown Properties, Inc. v. Township of Madison</u>,

172 A.2d 40 (N. J. Super. Ct. 1961); <u>Salazar v. Honig</u>, 246 Cal. Rptr. 837 (Cal. App. 1988).

The Department of Education and affiliated Amici (hereinafter "DOE") echo the County's argument by attempting to distinguish between a free education and a free schoolhouse. They claim that the Constitution "cannot be construed to mean that school buildings must be 'free'", Brief of Amici Curiae at 12, but acknowledge in the same sentence that "the nature and extent of the physical facilities have a relationship to providing an adequate educational opportunity." DOE somehow concludes that the relationship is not sufficient for the right to free schools to mean a right to free schoolhouses. Given the emphasis DOE places on the need for funds to build schools, this conclusion cannot be taken seriously.

"Access to the educational curricula of a public school system," DOE's construction of "free public schools," is not free if that curriculum is only implemented in a physical facility for which the user must pay. Many states have constitutional guarantees of free public schools. Although jurisdictions differ as to the meaning of "free schools" in regard to peripheral questions,¹¹ there is absolute

In some jurisdictions, incidental fees, such as for field trips 11 and gym clothes, have been expressly upheld; and in other jurisdictions even such incidental charges are held impermissible. Annotation, Validity of Exaction of Fees from Children Attending Elementary or Secondary Schools, 41 A.L.R.3rd 752, 757. See, e.g., Brewer v. Ray, 101 S.E. 667 (Ga. 1919) (\$1.00 matriculation fee and monthly tuition charge stricken as unconstitutional); Batty v. Board of Education of City of Williston, 269 N.W. 49 (N.D. 1936) (charge levied against students who did not complete high school after four years stricken as unconstitutional); Board of Education of City of Lawrence v. Dick, 78 P. 812 (Kan. 1904) (statute allowing Board of Education to demand tuition fees in certain cities held unconstitutional); Paulson v. Minidoka County School District No. 331, 463 P.2d 935 (Idaho 1980) (textbook charge held invalid, certain extracurricular activity fees held valid); Dowell v. School District No. 1, Boone County, 250 S.W. 2d footnote continued on next page 15

agreement among all jurisdictions that the state must provide the schoolhouse without charge. Universally, well-intentioned efforts to provide schoolhouses through charges imposed upon students or their families have been stricken. <u>State ex rel. Roberts v. Wilson</u>, 297 S.W. 419 (Mo. 1927) (charge to reimburse school board directors for personally arranging financing for new high school held invalid); <u>Young v. Trustees of Fountain Inn Grade School</u>, 41 S.E. 824 (S.C. 1902) (school board permanently enjoined from charging fee intended to be used for expansion of the school). California courts have ruled:

> The Constitution does not merely guarantee the right to a free "education;" it guarantees the right to a free "school." As such, the school and the entire product received from it by the student are to be free.

<u>Salazar v. Honig</u>, 246 Cal. Rptr. at 841. The Supreme Court of Wisconsin has held that the word "free" means "without cost for physical facilities and equipment." <u>Board of Education v. Sinclair</u>, 222 N.W.2d 143, 145 (Wis. 1974). <u>Accord</u>, <u>Sneed v. Greensboro City</u> <u>Board of Education</u>, 264 S.E.2d 106, 112 (N.C. 1980); <u>Bond v. Public</u> <u>Schools of Ann Arbor School District</u>, 178 N.W.2d 484 (Mich. 1970).

Thus, the schoolhouse is the cornerstone of a constitutional guarantee for a system of "free schools." For DOE to argue that "the constitutional provision cannot be construed to mean that school buildings must be 'free'", it must ignore all precedent and the whole

footnote continued from previous page

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